1939

## State of Utah v. Richard Jessup : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## ARGUMENT

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERRORS NOS. 1, 4, 5 AND 10

The Court erred in overruling defendant's motion to quash the information for the reason:

A. The information fails to state or charge a public offense.

B. Section 103-51-2, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chapter 112, Laws of Utah, 1935, is:

1. Unconstitutional for the reason:

a. It violates the Utah Constitution (Art. 6, Sec. 23) providing that "no bill shall be passed containing more than one subject."

b. The title of the Act does not cover all its subjects.

c. It combines a criminal with a civil statute.

d. It is inconsistent with 105-21-39 and 105-21-40 Compiled Laws of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chap. 118, Laws of Utah, 1935, both of which were passed on the same date and became effective on the same date as the statute in question.

e. It violates Article 1, Sec. 12 of the Utah Constitution, which provides that "a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband."

f. It violates Article 1, Sec. 12 of the Utah Constitution, which provides that "the accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself."

2. The said section fails to set forth, describe or define a crime.

C. The information fails to comply with Sec. 105-21-8, Compiled Laws of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chapter 118, Laws of Utah, 1935.

#### A.

The information (Abs. 2) charged: "That the said Richard Jessup on or about the first day of September, 1939, at Washington County, State of Utah, *did cohabit with more than one person of the opposite sex*". (Italics mine). The ancient Greeks expected their legislators *anemolia bazein*—to talk words of wind—but their final enactments to make sense. To cohabit with more than

one person of the opposite sex. (*L. cohabitare*—to dwell) could mean to dwell with one's brothers, sisters, or even one's children; for there is no crime of cohabitation at common law, and even the statutes apply descriptive terms to it to make it so. "It is purely statutory, and it is a new offense in our statutes." (*U. S. vs. Cannon*, 4 Utah 130). As the statute reads a woman may be guilty by dwelling with her brothers, sons or other relatives; a man, by dwelling with his sisters, daughters, or other relatives; a little boy, by dwelling with his sisters; a little girl, by dwelling with her brothers. It even suggests polyandry, a practice known to the Tibetans and the Nairs, but exotic here. As the statute stands, therefore, it is nonsense, as the word "cohabit" alone is of innocent connotation. As has been well said:

"in order to give it proper effect in any case regard must be had to the subject matter to which it relates, to the situation and conditions in respect to which it is used, and to the explanatory and qualifying language accompanying it."

14 C. J. S. 1311.

*King v. U. S.*, 17 F. 2d 61.

*De Berry v. De Berry*, 177 S. E. 440, 115 W. Va. 604.

*State v. Lawrence*, 27 N. W. 126, 19 Neb. 307.

There is no qualifying or explanatory language in the statute, though other states, in giving criminal import to the word apparently deem adjectives essential; thus: "cohabit as man and wife" (*Le Blanc v. Yawn*, 126 So. 789, 99 Fla. 328); "cohabit with any other woman" (*State v. Connaway*, Tapp. 58—Ohio): "lewdly and las-

civiously associate and cohabit together” (Johnson v. Com., 146 S. E. 289, 152 Va. 965), or lewdly and lasciviously cohabit’ (State v. Tuttle, 150 A. 490, 129 Me. 125), or “open and notorious illicit cohabitation” (King v. U. S., 17 F. 2d 545), “cohabiting as husband and wife” (In re Boyington, 137 N. W. 949, 157 Iowa 467) and “cohabiting in a state of adultery” (Martin v. State, 165 N. E. 763, 89 Ind. App. 107). A statutory absurdity is *ipso facto* a nullity; and this one is *nominis umbra*—the mere shadow of the name of a crime. We can see no basis for holding that the legislature in this instance set forth, described or defined a crime.

### B 1 a

Section 103-51-2, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chap. 112, Laws of Utah, 1935, under which the information was drawn, is unconstitutional for the reason that it violates the Utah Constitution (Art. 6, Sec. 23) providing that “no bill shall be passed containing more than one subject.” The statute in reality contains four subjects: 1. Cohabitation; 2. compelling any person to testify; 3. using evidence in civil or criminal proceedings; and, 4. liability to prosecution for giving testimony. The statute reads as follows:

“103-51-2 — Unlawful Cohabitation. All Persons Except Defendant Must Testify. If any person cohabits with more than one person of the opposite sex, such person is guilty of a felony.

Any person, except the defendant, may be compelled to testify in a prosecution for unlaw-

ful cohabitation; provided, however, that the evidence given in such prosecution shall not be used against him in any proceeding, civil or criminal, except for perjury in giving such testimony. A person so testifying shall not thereafter be liable to indictment, prosecution, or punishment for the offense concerning which such testimony was given.”

The rule against two subjects in enactments is mandatory in “nearly all jurisdictions” (59 Corpus Juris 797), and such statutes are “void” (59 C. J. 799). In fact as stated in *Utah State Fair v. Green*, 68 Utah 251, concerning such a statute, “every provision thereof is unconstitutional and void”, and it should be determined by the court without “reference to economic or moral effect.”

The Statute amends Sec. 103-51-2, Compiled Laws of Utah, 1933, on Unlawful Cohabitation, which appears under Chapter 51 of the Penal Code entitled “Sexual Offenses.” There was nothing in Sec. 103-51-2 about compelling witnesses to testify—that was added by the 1935 amendments, and was really an amendment of Sec. 105-45-6 of Chapter 45, Compiled Laws of Utah, 1933, on “Witnesses and Evidence”, particularly concerning the testimony of a witness not to be used against him. The sections should have been amended separately, and thus a crime would not have been intermingled with testimony, and immunities, civil and criminal, and prosecution aids. Again it was a case of the legislature’s covering too much territory.

## B 1 b

The title of the Act under which the information was drawn does not express all of the subjects, as required by Art. 6, Sec. 23 of the Constitution of Utah. The title (Chap. 112, Laws of Utah, 1935, reads:

“An Act Amending Section 103-51-2, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, Making Unlawful Cohabitation a Felony, and Providing that all persons Except the Defendant Must Testify in Proceedings Therefor.”

In the title there are two subjects: (a) unlawful cohabitation, and (b) all persons must testify; whereas in the act there are four subjects: (a) unlawful cohabitation; (b) all persons must testify; (c) evidence may not be used against witness; (d) non-liability to prosecution for offense on which testimony given.

It is said:

“All parts of an act which are not within its title are unconstitutional and void.”

59 C. J. 812.

Utah Fair v. Green, 68 Utah 251.

The word “civil” in the second paragraph of the act enlarges the scope of the act greatly, taking it from the criminal to the civil field, yet no mention of any civil procedure effect is mentioned in the title or, for that matter, even indicated.

## B 1 c

The preceding paragraph points out another defect in the act; it combines a criminal with a civil statute. As

stated in *State v. Tieman*, 32 Wash. 294, 73 P. 375, 98 Am. St. Rep. 854, a statute entitled one relative to crimes and punishments and criminal proceedings cannot lawfully contain any provisions of a civil nature.

### B 1 d

The Act is inconsistent with Sec. 105-21-39 and 105-21-40, Revised Laws of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chapter 118, Laws of Utah, 1935, both of which were passed on the same date and became effective on the same date as the statute in question. Thus the cohabitation act was passed on March 14, 1935, and was made effective on May 14, 1935; the inconsistent acts were passed on March 14, 1935, and made effective on May 14, 1935. The cohabitation act exempts "any person" from prosecution for testifying against the defendant even though he be *particeps criminis* whereas the other two sections (105-21-39 and 105-21-40 as amended by Chapter 118, Laws of Utah, 1935) provide:

"Every person concerned in the commission of an offense, whether he directly commits the offense, or procures, counsels, aids or abets in its commission even though not present, shall be informed against or indicted and tried and punished as a principal."

"An accessory may be prosecuted, tried and punished, though the principal may be neither prosecuted nor tried, and though the principal may have been acquitted."

## B 1 e

The Act also violates Article 1, Sec. 12, of the Utah Constitution which provides that "a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband." It will be noted that the Act reads: "Any person, except the defendant, may be compelled to testify in a prosecution for unlawful cohabitation", and, of course, "any person" includes the defendant's wife. It is so apparent that the Act is unconstitutional in this respect that it is unnecessary to argue it, even for emphasis. It is obviously, positively and unequivocally unconstitutional.

## B 1 d

In similar fashion the Act disregards the Utah Constitutional provision (Art. 1, Sec. 12) and the fifth amendment of the Constitution of the United States providing that "the accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself." Unlawful cohabitation involves dwelling with more than one woman, hence in a properly drawn information using names (herein later discussed) it is inevitable that there be an "accused" other than the defendant. The very nature of the crime includes a *particeps criminis*, an accomplice. The statute compels that other one to testify against herself, thus violating the constitutional provision. *Nemo tenetur seipsum accusare* is a highly respected maxim of the common law, not lightly to be disregarded; and, while immunity from prosecution might be granted in State courts it in no way affects Federal prosecution nor mitigates the public disgrace of self-incrimination.

## C.

The information fails to comply with Sec. 105-21-8, Compiled Laws of Utah, 1933, as amended by Chap. 118, Laws of Utah, 1935. The section provides that an information may charge:

“(a) By using the name given to the offense by the common law or by statute.

(b) By stating so much of the definition of the offense, either in terms of the common law or of the statute defining the offense or in terms of substantially the same meaning, as is sufficient to give the Court and the defendant notice of what offense is intended to be charged.”

I hope it is not contended by anyone that the reformation of criminal procedure as set forth in Chap. 118, Laws of Utah, 1935, authorizes such abstract charging of public offenses as: “John Doe committed murder”; “John Doe committed robbery”, and so on throughout the category of crimes—by merely naming them. Such chargings are meaningless; they disregard a *corpus delicti*, and are just as inane as hanging a man because he says he committed murder when no one has been killed. Nevertheless that is what the information does in this case—it points to nothingness.

“Did cohabit with more than one person of the opposite sex.”

Those are the words. What persons? How did he “cohabit”—as brother with sister, or as man and wife? Even in the “Forms for Certain Offenses” (Sec.

105-21-47 as amended by Chap. 118, Laws of Utah, 1935), permitting the charging of certain crimes by naming them, there is always an object; thus, "A. B. assaulted C. D.", "A. B. committed bigamy with C. D.", "A. B. murdered C. D.", and so on. It would have been thought ridiculous to say merely "A. B. assaulted", "A. B. committed bigamy", "A. B. murdered", etc. The statute did not include "unlawful cohabitation" in the category of short forms; even if it had, it would likely have set forth: "A. B. cohabited with C. D. and E. F. as man and wife." The information, therefore, is an abstraction, a nullity. That such a defect is regarded as fatal is set forth in *United States v. Cannon*, 4 Utah 131 as follows:

"If the indictment had charged the defendant with 'cohabiting with more than one woman', without giving the names of the women without time and place, it would have been insufficient in not giving particulars, so as to enable defendant to make proper defense, or to plead the judgment hereafter."

Also at page 130 it is said:

"To the general rule of describing statutory offenses in the language of the statute there are exceptions, the principal ones being (1) when the statute makes that an offense which was an offense at common law, and (2) when the offense is described in the statute in terms too general."

### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR NOS. 2, 3

The Court erred in overruling defendant's motion for a directed verdict, for the reason that the evidence is insufficient to justify or sustain the verdict. The evi-

dence merely amounts to this: At the defendant's home his wife was being visited by her cousin who was pregnant, and the cousin had been there for two weeks. (Trans. p. 8 et seq.) Is there anything criminal about that? The scholarly exegesis of *corpus delicti* in *State v. Johnson*, 95 Utah 572, has application here, except that in the instant case we have no confession to deal with. Nearly every home-owner in the country, from the President down, has at some time or other a female relative visiting the home, probably *enceinte* as often as otherwise.

The jury perhaps cogitated on the basis of a presumption of guilt or on the theory that the defendant would not have been arrested unless guilty. They were not out long enough to read the instructions, for they were back with their verdict while the Court still sat on the bench merely discussing the next day's calendar, a matter of five minutes. Conviction by rumor and local atmosphere was denounced in the last of the early cohabitation cases to reach the existing Utah reports. Thus in *State v. Graham*, 23 Utah 278 (290) the Court said:

“the defendant could only be convicted upon proof of affirmative acts upon his part from which the jury might infer guilt. But it would be setting a dangerous precedent to permit the mere belief or thought of acquaintances and neighbors and friends to become an element in any crime.”

The Court in another place (p. 288) very aptly made an observation that is most pertinent here:

“This is so upon the well-established rule that the law presumes a usual and ordinary state of things, rather than a peculiar and exceptional condition; it supposes legality rather than crime; and virtue and morality rather than the opposite qualities.”

Applying that rule to the instant case we find that the law presumes that the defendant's wife's cousin was visiting the home lawfully, in the usual manner, for the usual purpose; and there is nothing in the evidence to the contrary.

Another thing: this crime of cohabitation—if indeed it really exists at all; for adultery and bigamy apparently take care of every unlawful situation—is a continuing thing not to be proved by a single visit of the sheriff, or a single observation of anyone else.

The term cohabit “imports a dwelling together for some period of time and does not include mere visits or journeys.”

14 C. J. S. 1311.

In re Millers Estate, 78 P. 2d 819 (Okla.)

Turney v. State, 29 S. W. 893, 60 Ark. 259.

Jackson v. State, 19 N. E. 330, 116 Ind. 465.

Calef v. Calef, 54 Me. 365, 92 Am. Dec. 549.

State v. Connaway, Tapp, 58 (Ohio).

The term “cohabiting” carries with it the idea of a fixed residence rather than that of a transient or single unlawful interview.”

14 C. J. S. 1311.

In re Mills, 70 P. 91, 137 Cal. 298, 92 Am.

St. Rep. 175.

Comm. v. Calef, 10 Mass. 153.

“It has been said that cohabitation is not a sojourn, nor a habit of visiting nor even remaining with for a time, but that the term implies continuity.”

14 C. J. S. 1312.

In re Wray's Est. 19 P. 2d 1051; 93 Mont. 525.

All that the sheriff saw was that a lady besides the wife of defendant was at the house the day of his visit (Trans. p. 19); and the State's first witness testified (Trans. p. 8) the lady was the defendant's wife's cousin. To argue that such evidence—and that is all there was to it—proved a crime must presume upon the time of the Court, and should not be pursued further.

#### ASSIGNMENT NO. 6

When counsel for the State asked a witness if she was acquainted with “Lola Johnson, sometimes called Lola Jessup” he involved, in his question evidence that did not exist. (Trans. p. 11) No one had testified that Lola Johnson was known also as Lola Jessup; and, of course, this error greatly harmed the defendant in his rights.

#### ASSIGNMENTS NOS. 7 AND 9

Likewise, when the Court permitted questions concerning the whereabouts of persons twenty days after the arrest (Trans. p. 16) it illegally prejudiced the defendant in the minds of the jury. In *United States v. Cannon*, 4 Utah 152, the Court said:

“They must confine their investigation of his guilt or innocence to the proof of facts and cir-

cumstances occurring between the dates." (Alleged in the indictment).

In criminal cases the rule of exclusion is even more important than in civil cases (*Lightfoot v. People*, 16 Mich. 507, 511).

### ASSIGNMENT NO. 8

The Court erred in admitting testimony concerning the pregnant condition of Lola Johnson (*Trans.* p. 17) because her condition was entirely immaterial. (*United States v. Cannon*, 4 Utah 122.

For the many reasons herein stated, we can see no escape from the conclusion that the judgment should be reversed.

Respectfully submitted,

CLAUDE T. BARNES,  
*Attorney for Defendant  
and Appellant.*