1940

State of Utah v. Richard Jessup : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

In
The Supreme Court
of the
State of Utah

STATE OF UTAH,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

RICHARD JESSUP,
Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STATEMENT

Defendant, hereinafter called the appellant, is seeking to reverse the trial court on two general propositions of law: First, (App. Br. p. 2) that the trial court erred in overruling defendant's motion to quash the information, and Second, (App. Br. p. 11) that the trial court erred in overruling appellant's motion for a directed verdict.

The information charges the appellant in the language of the statute (Sec. 103-51-2, Laws of Utah, 1935, page 220), that he, on or about the 1st day of September, 1939, at Washington County,

State of Utah, "did cohabit with more than one person of the opposite sex."

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR NOS. 1, 4, 5, AND 10

Appellant's motion to quash is argued upon the grounds that: (A) the information fails to state a public offense; (B) that the criminal act under which it is drawn is (1) unconstitutional, (a) because it provides for more than one subject, (b) because the title does not cover its subjects, (c) because it combines a criminal and civil statute, (d) because it is inconsistent with other acts, and (e) because it provides that a wife must testify against her husband; and (2) the said section fails to set forth or describe a crime; (C) that the information fails to comply with the section stating the crime.

(A)

It seems as though appellant has exerted himself to list a volume of possible objections rather than to cite tenable objections and objections of merit. His argument is that the charging part of the information (which is also the words of the statute), to-wit: "did cohabit with more than one person" are merely "words of wind" and can mean to dwell with one's brothers, sisters, or even children; that said charging part should have adjectives such as "lewdly and lasciviously cohabit" in order to give criminal import to said charging part.

In order to follow appellant's argument, the legislative act would have to be distorted to include the crime of bigamy. One of the essential elements of bigamy is that of sexual intercourse. Said

element "is not a necessary ingredient in the crime of unlawful cohabitation."

State v. Springer, 40 Ut. 471; 121 Pac. 976.

United States v. Cannon, 4 Utah 122;

Affirmed 116 U. S. 55, and

United States v. Musser, 4 Utah 153.

The Cannon and Musser cases are based on the "Edmunds Act," which is designed to protect monogamous marriages. (See U. S. v. Cannon, 4 Ut. 141). The charging part of the Edmunds Act is similar to the Act under which appellant is charged, to wit: "If any male person . . . hereafter cohabits with more than one woman, he shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor." Mr. Justice Zane, through

United States v. Musser, 4 Utah, at page 156, says:

"We are of the opinion that the weight of authority is to the effect that the crime of unlawful cohabitation, as defined in the statute under consideration, is made without proof of sexual intercourse, and that proof of non-intercourse is not a defense. . . . We may assume that the authors of this law had in mind the institution of marriage, because they expressly declared that any man who having a wife, marries another, is guilty of a crime, and that any male person who cohabits with more than one woman is guilty of unlawful cohabitation. They had in view the evil effects of such practices. The end of the law was the protection of the monogamous marriage, and the suppression of polygamy and unlawful cohabitation was but a means to that end. It is proper also to take into consideration

the conditions as the national legislature anticipated and understood them in which the law was to be applied and enforced. They knew the time had elapsed within which a very large portion of those living in polygamy could be punished for that offense, and that many of these were among the most influential men in society, being the heads of the church, and that the example of their continuing to live with their plural wives under a claim of divine right, would be a scandal to society and a menace to the lawful marriage; that such examples would be a continuing invitation and apparent justification for their followers either secretly or openly to violate the law. Congress, therefore, forbade plural marriage in appearance only, as well as in form, and by the example of punishment it doubtless intended to eradicate the example of apparent plural marriages as well as the plural marriage in form. . . ."

The information is based on the new Code of Criminal Procedure, which prescribes a short form of information and further prescribes that an information is good if drawn in terms of the statute defining the offense and is sufficient to give the court and defendant notice of what offense is intended to be charged. (Section 105-21-9, Laws of Utah, 1935). The information being drawn in the words of the statute meets the statutory requirement of validity.

Appellant's complaint that the wording of the information was not sufficiently explanatory could have been well supplied by a Bill of Particulars. This was not requested by the appellant; neither did the court request the State to give the appel-

lant a Bill of Particulars. The appellant is not in a position to complain of the information not being specific and sufficiently explanatory when he sits idly by and does not avail himself of his statutory right to be particularly apprised of the crime of which he is charged.

One person may think that an information charging him in plain, short, and understandable language "that he cohabited with more than one person of the opposite sex," informs him better of the offense than an information drawn with great detail after the order of an old common law pleading. While the converse may be true with another accused person, the merits of the long and short form of indictments or informations are discussed in

State v. Roy (1936), 40 N. M.; 60 Pac.
(2d) 646; 110 A.L.R. 1.

B-1 (a)

(1) Appellant's next ground, advanced through his motion to quash, is that the statute under which the information is drawn is unconstitutional, because it contains more than one subject. Said act comprises

Chapter 112, Laws of Utah, 1935.

It reads as follows:

"If any person cohabits with more than one person of the opposite sex, such person is guilty of a felony.

"Any person, except the defendant, may be compelled to testify in a prosecution for unlawful cohabitation; provided, however, that the evidence given in such prosecution shall not be used against him in any proceeding, civil or criminal, except for

perjury in giving such testimony. A person so testifying shall not thereafter be liable to indictment, prosecution, or punishment for the offense concerning which such testimony was given."

It will be noted that the Act deals with the penal code and concerns only sexual offenses. Almost every Act of the Legislature can be divided so that it will contain two or more subjects from a strict grammatical point of view. That is to say, if an Act contains two sentences, it contains two subjects. It would be utterly ridiculous to say that the framers of the Constitution intended, through Article VI, Section 23, to prohibit all legislative Acts containing more than one sentence. Appellant's cited case of *State v. Green*, 68 Utah 251; 249 Pac. 1016, treats this point quite exhaustively. The opinion in the Utah report, at page 277, quoting another opinion, says:

"Manifestly the purpose of this provision of the Constitution is to prevent the Legislature from intermingling in one act two or more separate and distinct propositions — things which, in a legal sense, have no connection with, or proper relation to, each other. The reasons for, and the scope of, constitutional provisions of this character, are well illustrated in 26 Am. & Eng. Enc. Law (2d) 575, in the following language:

"This requirement of singleness is not intended to embarrass honest legislation, but only to prevent the vicious practice of joining, in one act, incongruous and unrelated matters; and, if all the parts of a statute have a natural connection and reasonably relate, directly or indirectly to

one general and legitimate subject of legislation, the act is not open to the objection of plurality, no matter how extensively or minutely it deals with the details looking to the accomplishment of the main legislative purpose'."

Said Green opinion at page 281 recites that on twelve different cases litigants have raised the question of statutes being unconstitutional because they contained more than one subject and only one has been successfully contested.

The Green case seems to be quite in point with the instant case. In the Green case, the horseracing act was contested as being unconstitutional because it contained more than one subject, towit: that of horseracing and that of betting or wagering by way of the pari-mutuel system. The Green case held that the act did not contain more than one subject within the purview of the framers of the Constitution.

The subjects in the instant case do not appear to be as distinct and separate as do the subjects in the Green case. Cohabitation, compelling a person to testify, using evidence in civil or criminal proceedings, and liability to prosecution for giving testimony, all relate to the criminal code and to sex offenses. Hence, we believe that within the contemplation of the framers of the constitutional provision (Article VI, Section 23), Chapter 112, Laws of Utah, 1935, does not contain two subjects. Even if said Chapter 112 was unconstitutional, this appellant could not avail himself of its unconstitutionality because his case dealt only with one subject — that of unlawful cohabitation. His wife was not compelled to testify against him; neither was his purported plural wife; hence no occasion arose

for such evidence to be used against him in civil or criminal cases, and therefore, no liability could arise out of the giving of such evidence.

Suppose the Legislature, to avoid any assailing of its Act upon appellant's contention, divided said Section 103-51-2, Laws of Utah, 1935, into four distinct and separate bills — (1) on unlawful cohabitation; (2) on compelling a witness to testify; (3) on using evidence in civil or criminal proceedings; and (4) on exempting one who testifies, from liability. Each bill would have to be interlocking and references tied to each other in order to give the full meaning of the intent of the Legislature. All constitutional or legislative Acts are supposed to be based on reason and public policy. Would it be more reasonable to draft the contents of said Section 103-51-2 in four separate bills than to draft it in one? Could said section be more clearly expressed through interlocking phraseology of four bills necessary to give the contents of said section? What public policy would favor expressing said Section 103-51-2 in four bills? These questions clearly answer themselves.

B-1 (b)

Appellant next complains of Chapter 112, Laws of Utah, 1935, being unconstitutional because its title does not express all its subjects. He quotes 59 C.J. 812 and *State Fair v. Green*, 68 Utah 251, as saying "all parts of an Act which are not within the title are unconstitutional and void." Said *Corpus Juris* citation more fully stated, reads as follows (Pages 811-814):

Sec. 393: "Since a constitutional requirement that the subject of a statute be ex-

pressed in its title is generally regarded as mandatory, the title is an essential part of an act, and the subject expressed in the title fixes the limit of the valid scope of the act. The provisions of an act must correspond with the subject expressed in its title; so nothing can validly be included in the body of a statute which is not expressed in or covered by the title, and all parts of an act which are not within its title are unconstitutional and void, even though such provisions might properly have been included in the act under a broader title. All matters, however, which are germane to, and naturally connected with, the subject announced by the title of an act and not excluded thereby are covered by it and may validly be included in the statute; and for the purpose of determining whether or not a provision is germane to the title a reasonable meaning should be given to the words and context of the provision.

Sec. 394: "Any means or provisions reasonably adapted to carry out and make effectual the principal object or purpose of a statute as disclosed by its title may be included in the body of the act, although not expressed or referred to in the title, without violating a constitutional provision requiring the subject of an act to be expressed in its title."

It will be noted that appellant has failed to descend this above quoted general principle of law down to the particulars of the instant case, as is announced in Section 394, *supra*, and also as is held by the above Green case. In the Green case, the horseracing statute was assailed as being un-

constitutional, because, among other reasons, parts of the act were not within the title, hence, such parts were void. The title of said horseracing act read: "An Act Relating to Horseracing and Providing for the Creation of a State Racing Commission and Defining its Powers and Duties and Repealing all Acts and Parts of Acts in Conflict Therewith." Section 6 of the act permits betting after the order of the pari-mutuel system. Appellant contended in said Green case that said Section 6 was not expressed in the title of the act. The Court held to the contrary on the theory that the pari-mutuel system of betting is associated and connected with horseracing. A note at page 814 of the above quoted Corpus Juris citation quotes the rule announced by Mr. Justice Straup in *State Fair v. Green*, supra, to be as follows:

"A provision in a bill to be germane to the subject expressed in the title is not required to be a necessary or even a usual or customary incident to the subject so expressed in the title. It is enough if it is directly or indirectly related to, and bears a natural connection with, such general subject, and such connection or relationship need not even be logical, but must be harmonious, and not discordant, with the expressed subject."

An examination of the above authorities readily shows that the body of Section 103-51-2, supra, is germane, related to and couched under the title of said section. To follow appellant's motion in the instant case, the title of the act would be about as large as the body of it and would express its substance about as much as it would be expressed in the body of the act. It seems clear that the constitutional convention did not intend the legislative bodies to go into great length and particular.

ity in the title of acts so that every particular part of the act is expressed in its title. The act in question we believe, would have been sufficiently expressed in its title if said title would have only referred to unlawful cohabitation; because compelling all but the defendant to testify and exempting them from criminal and civil liability is directly related to the act concerning unlawful cohabitation.

B-1 (c)

Appellant next complains because the act combines a criminal and a civil statute. He cites the case of *State v. Truman*, 32 Wash. 294; 73 Pac. 375. In the *Truman* case the act was entitled "An Act Relating to Crimes and Punishments, and Proceedings in Criminal Cases." The act then provided for bastardy proceedings. Held that bastardy proceedings were civil, hence, in derogation of the constitutional provision providing that every law shall contain but one subject, which shall be expressed in its title.

In the instant case the act only gives the witness who testifies a privilege to the effect that what she says cannot be used against her in any criminal or civil action except for perjury. Said act has nothing to do with combining a civil action with a criminal action or providing for a civil action under title of a criminal action as is announced in the *Truman* case. Then, too, the appellant cannot claim any prejudice to his substantial rights because his wife did not testify against him.

B-1 (d)

Appellant next complains about the unlawful cohabitation act, Chapter 112, as being inconsistent with Chapter 118, Section 105-21-39, Laws of Utah, 1935, in that the former act exempts the wife and

the plural wife from prosecution as accessories, while the latter section includes them as accessories. We need not bother ourselves with a construction or explanation of the mentioned inconsistency, as it does not concern us because the wife or plural wife did not testify in the instant case.

B-1 (e)

Appellant next complains that the act, Section 103-51-2, *supra*, violates Article I of Section 12 of the Utah Constitution, which provides that "a wife shall not be compelled to testify against her husband." This question is not at issue, because appellant's wife did not testify against him, hence, he is not an interested party to complain against the unconstitutionality of the act.

B-1 (d)

Appellant lists as another reason that the said act violates Article I of Section 12 of the Utah Constitution, that it disregards the provision that the "accused shall not be compelled to give evidence against himself." He raises this question out of a twisted reasoning that the complaint should have listed his purported wives as accomplices and then in this premise the statute provides that the purported wife is compelled to testify against herself. Appellant, through his contortions of reasoning, has apparently, by inadvertance, built the premise of a confession that his purported wives should have been listed along with him as accomplices. We submit also that this point is immaterial and not before the Court for consideration, for the reasons expressed in the preceding subdivision B-1 (e).

C.

Appellant complains of the information failing to comply with Chapter 118, Laws of Utah, 1935. He parallels the information with a hypothetical information charging a public offense as: "John Doe committed murder," and further says that such charge is meaningless, that it is like hanging a man because he is charged with committing murder when no one has been killed. He then cites "Forms for Certain Offenses," as is prescribed by Section 105-21-47, Laws of Utah, 1935, one of which is: "AB murdered CD."

Appellant's hypothetical information would be more parallel if the instant information alleged: "Richard Jessup committed unlawful cohabitation." The information follows the stock statutory rule of pleading (Section 105-21-8, Laws of Utah, 1935), which provides it is sufficient if it charges the offense by using the name given it by statute by stating so much of the definition of the offense in terms of the statute defining it. As heretofore stated, the information follows specifically the wording of the statute defining unlawful cohabitation. It seems appellant's complaint is that the information does not give the names of the persons of the opposite sex with whom appellant is alleged to have cohabited. Of course, through a Bill of Particulars, which he did not request, the names could have easily been supplied. Hence, appellant is in a poor position to now complain of the failure to supply the names. (*State v. Roy, supra*). Suppose that the court would not allow the names of the women he is alleged to have cohabited with (probably for reasons of public policy, such as to preserve the character and reputation of the women) to be announced. Query: Would the information and proof be essential to

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